2006

William J. Tuttle, Charlene W. Tuttle, Kenton Tuttle,
Lori M. Tuttle v. Jerry D. Olds, Utah Department of
Natural Resources, Terry Monroe : Brief of
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j) (1953 as amended).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court properly convert the motion to dismiss to a motion for judgment on the pleadings and apply the proper standard?
2. Did the defendants have a duty to conduct a groundwater survey and create a groundwater plan in the Pahvant Valley in 1992 to 1996 or did they exceed their authority?
3. Having determined to conduct a groundwater survey in the Pahvant Valley, did the defendants have an obligation to the Tuttle to conduct the survey in a non-negligent manner?
4. Were the defendants estopped from contradicting the 1996 groundwater survey?
5. Was the Tuttle's notice of claim timely?
6. Did the trial court err in dismissing the Tuttle's takings and estoppel claims?

All of these issues were decided by the trial court on a motion to dismiss, which the trial court treated as a motion for judgment on the pleadings. The standard of review for both issues is correctness. See Whipple v. American Fork Irrigation Co., 910 P.2d 1218, 1220 (Utah 1996) (standard of review for motion to dismiss is correctness); Miller v.

Gastronomy, Inc., 2005 UT App. 80, ¶6, 110 P.3d 144 (standard of review for motion for judgment on the pleadings is correctness).

STATEMENT OF DETERMINATIVE LAWS

1. Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.
 - a. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6);
 - b. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c).
2. Groundwater Survey and Groundwater Plan.
 - a. The Tuttle have been unable to locate any determinative law on this issue, which appears to be a matter of first impression.
3. Negligent Survey.
 - a. Nelson ex rel. Stuckman v. Salt Lake City, 919 P.2d 568 (Utah 1996);
 - b. Brinkerhoff v. Salt Lake City, 13 Utah 2d 214, 371 P.2d 211 (Utah 1962).
4. Estoppel.
 - a. Mendez v. Department of Social Services, 813 P.2d 1234, 1236 (Utah App. 1991).
5. Notice of Claim.
 - a. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-12¹;

¹The Legislature repealed the Utah Governmental Immunity Act during its 2004 general session and replaced it with the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah. See Laws

- b. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-11(1);
 - c. Bank One Utah v. West Jordan City, 2002 UT App. 271, ¶8, 54 P.3d 135.
6. Estoppel and Takings Claims.
- a. Bowles v. State ex. rel. Dept. of Transportation, 652 P.2d 1345, 1346 (Utah 1982);
 - b. El Rancho Enters., Inc., v. Murray City Corp., 565 P.2d 778, 779 (Utah 1977);
 - c. Colman v. State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 634 (Utah 1990).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of water rights in the Pahvant Valley in Millard County, Utah. Appellants William J. Tuttle, Charlene W. Tuttle, Kenton Tuttle and Lori M. Tuttle (collectively “the Tuttles”) owned a number of tracts of land in the valley. The parcels came to approximately 1,700 acres, which the Tuttles farmed. Since the time that the Tuttles purchased these parcels, they used various water rights to irrigate the majority of the property.

2004, ch 267. The Legislature provided, however, that “(1) injuries alleged to be caused by a governmental entity that occurred before July 1, 2004, be governed by the provisions of Title 63, Chapter 30, Utah Governmental Immunity Act; and (2) injuries alleged to be caused by a governmental entity that occurred on or after July 1, 2004, be governed by the provisions of Title 63, Chapter 30d, Governmental Immunity Act of Utah.” Thus, this claim is governed by the former Act.

In 1992, the State Engineer announced that he was going to perform a groundwater survey of the Pahvant Valley and create a groundwater plan. A few years later, the State Engineer stated that the creation of the groundwater plan would proceed in three phases. In the first phase, the State Engineer would conduct a survey of the irrigated acreage and the water rights in the area to make sure that the areas which were being irrigated had sufficient water rights. If the State Engineer determined that a person was irrigating property without sufficient water rights, that person would receive a letter. If the person continued to irrigate without sufficient water rights, the State Engineer would take legal action.

Because the Tuttles wanted to be sure that their water rights were sufficient, they went to the State Engineer's regional office in Richfield. The employees there told them that if they had not received a letter, they were entitled to continue irrigating their property.

In March of 1996, the State Engineer sent a letter to property owners in the Pahvant Valley stating that the first phase of the survey had been completed. Those persons that the State Engineer had determined were irrigating illegally had received a letter and all of the irrigated property in the valley was now covered by valid water rights. The Tuttles had never received a letter, although they knew people who had received letters. The State Engineer had forced these people to stop irrigating.

In 1998, the Tuttles decided to sell their property. Based on the events of 1992 to 1996, they advertised the land as having sufficient water rights to irrigate the property as

the Tuttle had historically irrigated it. They were contacted by Grant and Fern Ellsworth, who were California residents. The Tuttle eventually sold the property to the Ellsworths.

After the Tuttle sold the property to the Ellsworths, Terry Monroe (“Monroe”), an employee of the State Engineer’s office contacted the Ellsworths and stated that he had concerns about the water rights. Although Monroe stated he would work with the Ellsworths to address his concerns, the Ellsworths did not work with Monroe. They started a legal action against the Tuttle in federal court.

Monroe later performed further analysis of the water rights and claimed that they were sufficient to irrigate only about 953 acres. Monroe testified to this effect at the trial between the Ellsworths and the Tuttle in federal court. The jury in the federal court returned a verdict for the Ellsworths on April 30, 2003 in the amount of \$1,113,840. This was later supplemented by \$260,184.83 in attorney’s fees and costs. Although the Tuttle appealed this verdict, it was upheld by the Federal Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Prior to 1998, the Tuttle were the owners of two farms in the Pahvant Valley in Millard County, Utah. Plaintiff William Tuttle owned approximately 1,100 acres (“William’s Farm”). Plaintiff Kenton Tuttle owned approximately 640 acres (“Kenton’s Farm”). R. at 2 - 8. During the time that the Tuttle owned the farms, they used various water rights to irrigate their farms. William’s Farm was irrigated using water rights 67-119, 67-137, 67-160, 67-286, 67-287, and 67-304. Kenton’s Farm was irrigated using

water rights 67-692, 67-694, 67-708, and 67-867. R. at 2 -8. The Tuttle believed that they had sufficient water rights to irrigate their entire farms and did irrigate the farms for the entire time they owned the farms without complaint or incident. R. at 2 - 8.

In 1992, the State Engineer announced that he intended to create a new water management plan for the Pahvant Valley. R. at 8. A few years later, the State Engineer announced that the creation of the new groundwater management plan for the Pahvant Valley would proceed in three phases. R. at 8. In the first phase, the State Engineer would conduct a survey of the irrigated acreage in the valley to determine whether the property was being irrigated with proper and sufficient water rights. R. at 8. If it was determined that property was being irrigated without a valid or sufficient water rights, the owner would receive a letter. If the owner continued to irrigate the property without valid water rights or with insufficient water rights, the State Engineer would commence legal action to stop the illegal irrigation. R. at 8.

In an effort to verify the validity and sufficiency of their water rights to irrigate their entire farms, the Tuttle went into the State Engineer's regional office in Richfield to confirm that their irrigation was under valid and sufficient water rights. R. at 9 - 10. The Tuttle were told that if they had not received a letter, their water rights were valid and sufficient, and they were entitled to continue to irrigate the land as they had historically done. R. at 9 - 10.

In March of 1996, the plaintiff received a letter from the State Engineer's office indicating that the first phase of the groundwater management plan had been completed

and all irrigated land in the Pahvant Valley was now covered by a valid water right. R. at 10. A copy of this letter is included as Exhibit “A” in the Addendum. The Tuttles never received a letter or any other information from the State Engineer informing them that they did not have a valid water right sufficient to irrigate William’s or Kenton’s entire Farms. R. at 10.

In 1998, the Tuttles decided to sell the farms. R. at 10. Based on the communications they had received from the State Engineer’s office, the Tuttles advertised the land as having water rights and informed prospective buyers that there were valid and sufficient water rights to irrigate the entire farms. R. at 10 -11. The Tuttles transferred the farms to Grant Ellsworth and Fern Ellsworth (“the Ellsworths”) in December 1998 via a §1031 exchange. The full transaction was closed on July 1, 1999. They also transferred all of the water rights associated with the farms to the Ellsworths. R. at 11.

On or about December 6, 2000, defendant Terry Monroe (“Monroe”) sent a letter to the Ellsworths informing the Ellsworths that Monroe had concerns about the water rights for the farms. R. at 11. Although Monroe informed the Ellsworths that he was willing to work with the Ellsworths to review Monroe’s concerns, the Ellsworths did not work with Monroe to address the problems. Instead, the Ellsworths commenced a lawsuit against the Tuttles in the Federal District Court for the District of Utah (“the Federal Lawsuit”). R. at 11 - 12. Monroe later performed a further evaluation of the water rights which the Tuttles had transferred to the Ellsworths and determined that the water rights

were sufficient to irrigate only 484 acres of William's Farm and 451.2 acres of Kenton's Farm. R. at 135.

At the trial of the Federal Lawsuit, Monroe testified on behalf of the Ellsworths. Monroe testified that the water rights were insufficient to irrigate the entire farms the Tuttles sold to the Ellsworths. R. at 12. Monroe testified that the water rights were sufficient to irrigate only 935.2 acres of the approximately 1,700 acres the Ellsworths had purchased from the Tuttles. R. at 134.

The jury in the federal lawsuit found in favor of the Ellsworths. The jury reached its verdict on April 30, 2003. See Exhibit "A" attached to the Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss. R. at 134 -35. The Federal District Court entered judgment against the Tuttles in the amount of \$1,113,840 on July 7, 2003. The original judgment was for fraud, breach of warranty, wrongful conversion, breach of contract and for punitive damages based on the fraud. R. at 134 -135. The Federal District Court entered a supplemental judgment against the Tuttles in the amount of \$260,184.83 on October 7, 2003. This judgment was for attorney's fees and costs. See Exhibit "B" attached to the Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss. R. at 135.

The Tuttles appealed to the Tenth Circuit Court, which upheld the jury's verdict and affirmed the judgment. R. at 135.

The Tuttles filed their notice of claim on April 29, 2004. R. at 140.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although the defendants filed a motion to dismiss, the trial court decided to treat the motion as a motion for judgment on the pleadings. In making its decision, however, the trial court did not limit itself to the allegations in the pleadings and did not accept the allegations of the complaint as true. The trial court therefore committed error which warrants reversal.

The trial court granted the motion on two major bases. First, the trial court ruled that the State Engineer had no duty to provide an error-free survey of the groundwater resources in the Pahvant Valley. Instead, the court held that owners of water rights are presumed to know the amount of water which they own and can only alter water rights through statutory procedures. This conclusion of the trial court is error because the trial court failed to acknowledge that the State Engineer had no duty or authority to determine water rights in the Pahvant Valley on his own initiative. The State Engineer can only determine water rights through a court action after receiving a petition.

Having decided to determine water rights through the groundwater survey when he had no duty or authority to do so, the State Engineer had a duty to perform the survey with reasonable care. The trial court's conclusion that the Tuttle were not entitled to an error-free determination of the groundwater resources is incorrect. By acting where he had no duty and outside his scope of authority, the State Engineer assumed a duty to conduct the survey with reasonable care.

Furthermore, having made at least two representations to the Tutties that their water rights were sufficient, the State Engineer was estopped from later changing its position and claiming that the Tutties (and later the Ellsworths) did not have sufficient water rights to irrigate the water as they had previously done.

The second basis of the trial court's decision to grant the motion for judgment on the pleadings was its belief that the Tutties' notice of claim was untimely. The trial court correctly determined that the notice of claim was due within one year of the time that the claims arose. Although the trial court did not determine when the claims arose, it did determine that the claims arose before the jury returned its verdict in the federal court case and the notice of claim was therefore untimely. In fact, the claims against these defendants arose when the jury in the federal action delivered its verdict on April 30, 2003, and the notice of claim was filed timely on April 29, 2004.

Finally, even if the trial court was correct that the notice of claim was untimely, that would not affect the Tutties' estoppel claims or its takings claims. These claims were not addressed in the court's decision. Because these claims were not addressed, they are still viable and the court's decision to dismiss the complaint was improper.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONVERTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS INTO A MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS AND DID NOT APPLY THE PROPER STANDARD IN DECIDING THE MOTION.

At the hearing on this matter, the trial court announced that, although the defendants had filed a motion to dismiss, it was granting a motion for judgment on the pleadings. This was error. A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) may be filed immediately after the complaint is filed in lieu of an answer. See Rule 12(a); Milton I Shadur, 2 Moore's Federal Practice §12.12 (Matthew Bender 2006) ("Although a defendant . . . may present every defense in a responsive pleading, Rule 12 permits the party to raise certain defenses and objections by motion filed before serving the answer").

A motion for judgment on the pleadings, on the other hand, must be filed "After the pleadings are closed but within such time as not to delay the trial." Rule 12(c).

In this matter, the pleadings had not been closed—the defendants had not filed an answer. The only pleading which had been made was the complaint.

The trial court apparently converted the motion to a motion for judgment on the pleadings in the belief that this would allow it to consider matters outside the pleadings. This is, however, incorrect. "The grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings is reviewed under the same standard as the grant of a motion to dismiss, i.e., we affirm the grant of such a motion only if, as a matter of law, the plaintiff could not recover under the

facts alleged.” Miller v. Gastronomy, Inc., 2005 UT App. 80, ¶6, 110 P.3d 144 (quoting Thimmes v. Utah State Univ., 2001 UT App 93, ¶4, 22 P.3d 257).

In addition, in considering a motion to dismiss, the trial court must construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and indulge all reasonable inferences in his favor. Mounteer v. Utah Power & Light Co., 823 P.2d 1055 (Utah 1991); Russell v. Standard Corp., 898 P.2d 263 (Utah 1995).

At the hearing of this matter, the trial court considered many matters which were outside the pleadings, particularly the basis for the jury’s decision in the federal court action. The trial court also did not construe the allegations in the light most favorable to the Tuttle, but relied in large part on the decisions made in the federal courts. This was error and requires the reversal of the trial court’s decision in this matter.

II. THE STATE ENGINEER HAD NO DUTY OR AUTHORITY TO CONDUCT THE GROUNDWATER SURVEY, IMPOSE A GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN OR DETERMINE WATER RIGHTS IN THE PAHVANT VALLEY.

In 1992, the State Engineer announced that he intended to conduct a groundwater survey of the Pahvant Valley. A few years later, the State Engineer announced that the groundwater survey would proceed in three stages. The first was that the State Engineer would review the water rights in the valley and determine whether all of the property which was being irrigated was covered by valid water rights. If the State Engineer determined that any property was being irrigated without a valid water right, the State Engineer would first send a notice to the person irrigating the property. If the person

continued to irrigate without a valid water right, the State Engineer would commence legal action to stop the illegal irrigation.

This scheme was illegal for two reasons. First, the State Engineer had no right to conduct the groundwater survey. Second, the procedure proposed by the State Engineer allowed him, in effect, to determine water rights outside of a district court action in violation of Utah law. Thus, the State Engineer exceeded his authority in conducting the groundwater survey in the Pahvant Valley.

A. The State Engineer Had No Authority to Conduct a Groundwater Survey or Impose a Groundwater Management Plan.

The State Engineer exceeded his authority in creating the groundwater management plan in the first place. It is axiomatic that the State Engineer only has the power that is delegated to him in the statute. Little Cottonwood Water Co. v. Kimball, 76 Utah 243, 289 P. 116 (1930). The State Engineer's authority and duties are described in Utah Code Ann. §73-2-1 (2006). In this statute, the State Engineer is given wide authority to take such actions as: 1) providing administrative supervision of waters and water rights, 2) making rules to govern water issues, 3) bringing suit to enjoin or prevent violations of water law, 4) upon request of an irrigation district, survey land proposed for annexation into the district to determine the amount of water which can be beneficially used on the land, and 5) establishing water distribution systems and their boundaries.

Nowhere in this statute, however, is the State Engineer authorized or required to perform a survey of the water rights in a particular area and to impose a groundwater

management plan on the area. In this regard, it is important to note that in the 2006 General Session of the Utah Legislature, a bill was proposed which would have authorized the State Engineer to create groundwater management plans. See draft legislation, attached as Exhibit “B” in the Addendum. Although this bill was not passed, the fact that it was considered necessary indicates that the State Engineer was not required to perform this survey of the Pahvant Valley and had no authority to impose the groundwater plan in the Pahvant Valley.

B. The State Engineer must Determine Water Rights Through an Adjudication.

Utah Code Ann. §73-4-1(a) (2006), prescribes the procedure the State Engineer must follow in determining water rights. That section states:

Upon a verified petition to the state engineer, signed by five or more or a majority of water users upon any stream or water source, requesting the investigation of the relative rights of the various claimants to the waters of such stream or water source, it shall be the duty of the state engineer, if upon such investigation he finds the facts and conditions are such as to justify a determination of said rights, to file in the district court an action to determine the various rights. In any suit involving water rights the court may order an investigation and survey by the state engineer of all the water rights on the source or system involved.

The first relevant feature of the system for determining water rights is that the State Engineer may not commence a determination of water rights himself. He cannot act until he has received a verified petition signed by five or more water users or a majority of the water users in an area. In the case of the Pahvant Valley, however, it appears that the

State Engineer violated this limitation and commenced the determination of water rights on his own initiative.²

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