2006

William J. Tuttle, Charlene W. Tuttle, J. Kenton Tuttle, Lori M. Tuttle v. Jerry D. Olds, Utah Department of Natural Resources, Terry Monroe :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Addendum A.

During this time, the Tuttles had been irrigating their entire farmland of about 1,700 acres, but held valid water rights for only 935.2 acres. R.12 at ¶89; R. 13 at ¶¶ 98-99; R.134 at ¶¶18-19.⁵ The groundwater survey, however, did not discover the shortage and therefore the Tuttles did not receive notification of their illegal irrigation. R.9 at ¶ 51. In 1998, however, Assistant Regional Engineer Terry L. Monroe sent a letter to William J. Tuttle notifying him that Monroe had been unable to identify any water right associated with a “large irrigation well” equipped with a diesel motor (“the Diesel Well”) located on Tuttle’s farm and requesting assistance in locating a water right for the well. R.27.

The Tuttles received Monroe’s letter while they were in negotiations to sell their farms, including their water rights, to the Ellsworths. R.10 at ¶70 & R.27. When the Ellsworths inquired about water rights, the Tuttles gave them documentation of their water rights and the 1996 letter from Morgan. *Id.* at ¶¶68-69. The sale of the farm and water rights closed on July 1, 1999. R.11 at ¶¶76-77.

Several months after the sale, Monroe sent the Ellsworths a letter about

⁵At hearing below, the Tuttles refused to concede that a substantial portion of their farms was not covered by water rights. R. 208 at 29-30. That refusal contradicted their own allegations. R. 12 at ¶ 89; R 13 at ¶¶ 98-99; R. 134 at ¶¶ 18-19. More importantly, a substantial shortage in water rights is a necessary premise of their claim that the defendants negligently conducted the survey.

concerns he had with water rights on the farms. R.11 at ¶ 78 & R.28-30. In the letter, Monroe stated that the Diesel Well was an improper point of diversion and analyzed the various water rights associated with the farms, concluding that rights existed for the sole supply of only 861.10 of 1700 acres. R.28-30. Monroe informed the Ellsworths that “[i]t is important that these issues be resolved before the upcoming irrigation season as this office will not allow the continued use of a well with no water rights in it and the continued irrigation of land that is not covered by a valid water right.” *Id.* at 30.

The Ellsworths filed suit against the Tuttles in November 2001. R.12 at ¶ 85. A jury verdict against the Tuttles was rendered on April 30, 2003, and a judgment entered for approximately \$ 1.4 million. *Id.* at ¶ 92.⁶ The Tuttles filed a notice of claim against State Engineer Jerry D. Olds and the Department of Natural Resources on about April 28, 2004. R.113-20.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly dismissed the Tuttles’ negligence claims against the defendants because the Tuttles failed to file a notice of claim within a year of when the claims arose as required by the Utah Governmental

⁶The judgment was affirmed on appeal. *Ellsworth v. Tuttle*, 148 Fed. Appx. 653 (10th Cir. 2005).

Immunity Act. At the latest, the claims arose in November 2001, when the Ellsworths filed suit against the Tuttles in federal court. The Tuttles' notice of claim was not filed until April 2004.

The Tuttles have waived on appeal any error resulting from the trial courts' alleged reliance on materials outside the pleadings by failing to explain their argument in their opening brief with enough specificity to enable defendants to respond. The only outside matters to which the Tuttles refer is "the basis for the jury's decision in the federal action" and the "decisions made in the federal courts." But the Tuttles themselves relied on pleadings from the federal action in opposing the defendants' motion to dismiss. Moreover, public records from the federal case were central to the allegations and could have properly been considered under Rule 10(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In addition, although both parties offered outside materials and the trial court asked questions about the federal case, the court did not rely on and therefore implicitly excluded outside materials in making its decision.

Even if the Tuttles had timely filed notice of their negligence claims, those claims were also correctly dismissed because the state engineer owed the Tuttles no duty to use reasonable care in conducting a groundwater survey whose express purpose was to eliminate illegal irrigation, not to determine or alter water rights. In addition, the Tuttles' allegations fail to establish

several necessary elements of an estoppel claim against a governmental entity. The Tuttles could not, under any set of facts that could be proven in support of their claim, demonstrate that defendants made a specific written representation that the Tuttles had sufficient water rights to irrigate their entire farm acreage, that they reasonably relied on the statements that were made, that manifest injustice would result if estoppel were not applied and that the application of estoppel would not impair the exercise of the governmental function of administering water rights.

Finally, the district court correctly dismissed the Tuttles' taking claim because the Tuttles had no protectable property interest in water rights to irrigate their entire farmland. Nor did the Division ever "take" property that was never the Tuttles' to begin with. Therefore, this Court should affirm the judgment of dismissal in its entirety.

ARGUMENT

1. The Notice of Claim Was Untimely

The trial court correctly held that the Tuttles' notice of claim was untimely because it was filed more than one year after their claims accrued. The Utah Governmental Immunity Act (the "Act") provides that "a claim against the state, or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority, is barred unless notice of claim is filed with the attorney general within one year after the claim arises" Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-12 (West 2004).⁷ The Act further provides that "[a] claim arises when the statute of limitations that would apply if the claim were against a private person begins to run." *Id.* at 63-30-11(1).⁸

Generally, "a statute of limitations is triggered upon the happening of the last event necessary to complete the cause of action." *Cedar Profl Plaza v. Cedar City Corp.*, 2006 UT App. 36, ¶ 11, 131 P.3d 275, 279 (citation and

⁷The Utah Governmental Immunity Act was repealed as of July 1, 2004 and replaced by the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah. The corresponding provision in the new act imposes the same time limitation as the previous provision, but alters the place of filing. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-402 (West 2004) (effective July 1, 2004).

⁸The corresponding provision in the new act sets forth a new exception that codifies a discovery rule. See Section 63-30d-401(1)(a)-(c).

internal quotation marks omitted) (construing parallel notice requirement for claims against political subdivisions). However, a plaintiff is “not entitled to wait until it [knows] all of the facts supporting [the claim against the defendant]. It is enough that [the plaintiff is] ‘aware that the governmental entity’s action or inaction ha[s] resulted in some kind of harm to [the plaintiff’s] interests.’” *Id.* at ¶ 14 (quoting *Bank One Utah v. West Jordan City*, 2002 UT App 271, ¶ 12, 54 P.3d 135).

The Tuttles were certainly aware that the allegedly negligent survey had resulted in some harm to their interests by the time the Ellsworths filed their complaint against the Tuttles in federal court, in November 2001. In fact, the Tuttles had reason to doubt the survey long before then. As noted by the trial court, landowners are presumed to know the extent of their water rights. *Dugan v. Jones*, 615 P.2d 1239, 1246 (Utah 1980), *superseded by statute on procedural grounds as noted in Arnold v. Curtis*, 846 P.2d 1307 (Utah 1993). In addition, the Tuttles’ own allegations establish that they had doubts that prompted them to inquire at the Division’s regional office in Richfield. R.9 at ¶¶ 55-56. Although the Tuttles allege that unidentified employees at the regional office resolved those doubts, the Tuttles apparently ignored their actual water certificates.

Moreover, the 1998 letter from Terry Monroe questioning the existence of a water right for the Diesel Well should have revived the Tuttles’ concerns

before they sold their farms. The Tuttles had at least inquiry notice, if not outright personal knowledge, that the survey was inaccurate even before the sale of their farms. *See, e.g., Macris v. Sculptured Software, Inc.*, 2001 UT 43, ¶¶ 26-27, 24 P.3d 984, 991-92 (holding shareholder of closely held corporation was on inquiry notice of claim for conversion of shares when she was denied access to company information); *Walker Drug Co., Inc. v. La Sal Oil Co.*, 902 P.2d 1229, 1231 (Utah 1995) (holding plaintiff was on inquiry notice of property damage when they became aware of governmental investigation of potential environmental contamination of neighboring property). Accordingly, the trial court correctly concluded that the April 2004 notice of claim was untimely.⁹

The Tuttles' attempt to challenge that conclusion by relying on *Valley Colour, Inc. v. Beuchert Bldgs., Inc.*, 944 P.2d 361 (Utah 1997), is misplaced. That case involved claims for slander of title and tortious interference by the filing of a mechanic's lien against the plaintiff's property. The Supreme Court held that because special damages were a necessary element of those claims, the claims did not accrue and the limitations period did not begin to run until

⁹The Tuttles argued below that water rights are too complex for them to understand without expert assistance. But this did not relieve them of the obligation to exercise due diligence under the circumstances. *See, e.g., Walker Drug*, 902 P.2d at 1229 (holding property owners were on inquiry notice of possible environmental contamination of their property because they could have hired an expert to investigate the cause of gas fumes in and around their property).

the property was sold and the damages became ascertainable. *Id.*

But proof of special damages is not a required element of the Tuttles' negligence claim. Therefore, the special damages rule applied in *Valley Colour* is inapposite. Rather, the Tuttles sustained harm as soon as they became aware that the survey was inaccurate because that is when they allegedly sustained a diminution in the value of their farms. That alleged diminution occurred even regardless of whether they ever sold their property. Thus, there is nothing about the federal damage award that was essential to the Tuttles' claims in this case.

Again, the Tuttles were placed upon inquiry notice of the defendants' alleged negligence no later than when the Ellsworths filed their lawsuit in November 2001. But the Tuttles did not file their notice of claim for approximately two and a half more years, in April 2004. Therefore, the trial court correctly determined that the Tuttles failed to file their notice of the negligence claims within one year of when the claims arose. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the dismissal of the Tuttles' negligence claims.¹⁰

¹⁰The parties agree that no notice of claim was required for the Tuttles' equitable estoppel and takings claims, which are discussed at Points 4 and 5 below.

2. The Tuttles Have Waived Any Procedural Challenge to the Decision Below by Failing to Adequately Develop Their Argument in Their Opening Brief

The Tuttles have waived any procedural challenge to the decision below by failing to adequately develop their argument in their opening brief. Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that the argument “shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented . . . with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on.” U. R. App. P. 24(a)(9). In applying this rule, the Supreme Court has declined to review issues not presented with sufficient clarity, stating that “a reviewing court is entitled to have the issues clearly defined with pertinent authority cited and is not simply a repository in which the appealing party may dump the burden of argument and research.” *See State v. Thomas*, 1999 UT 2, ¶ 11, 974 P.2d 269, 271.

In this vein, both the Supreme Court and this Court have frequently rejected arguments simply on the ground that they were insufficiently developed in the appellant’s opening brief. *See, e.g., Jensen v. Sawyers*, 2005 UT 81, ¶¶ 133-34, 130 P.3d 325, 349-50 (declining to review challenge to denial of attorney fees and costs, when appellant argued only that “If the court closely examines [the attorney’s submissions below], it will see the criteria for fees was met.”); *MiVida Enter. v. Steen-Adams*, 2005 UT App. 400, ¶ 15 n.4, 122 P.3d 144, 148 (declining to review contentions that various

transactions were final step necessary to complete cause of action when appellant “failed to detail the connection” between the transactions and the claims).

The Tuttlés’ vague assertions that the trial court “considered many matters which were outside the pleadings” and “did not construe the allegations in the light most favorable to the Tuttlés,” without further analysis, is insufficient to raise an issue for appeal. *See* Appellants’ Br. at 12. Nor are the Tuttlés’ contentions that “the trial court considered . . . the basis for the jury’s decision in the federal court action” and “relied in large part on the decisions made in the federal courts,” *id.*, specific enough to satisfy the Tuttlés’ burden of presenting the issue with sufficient clarity that the defendants and this Court would not have to guess exactly which decisions in the federal action the Tuttlés contend that the trial court erroneously relied upon. This is especially true where, in opposition to the motion to dismiss, the Tuttlés themselves alleged that the federal judgment was based on “fraud, breach of warranty, wrongful conversion, breach of contract, and . . . punitive damages based on the fraud,” R.134 at ¶21 & R.153-54, and that “the jury found in favor of the Ellsworths” after Terry Monroe testified that “the [Tuttlés’] water rights were sufficient to irrigate only 935.2 acres of the approximately 1,700 acres the Ellsworths had purchased from the Tuttlés.” R.12 at ¶89-90 & R.134 at ¶¶18-20.

Even if the Tuttles had not presented such allegations, records from the federal case could have properly been considered under Rule 10(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides that “an exhibit to a pleading is a part thereof for all purposes.” U. R. Civ. P. 10(c). Under Rule 10(c), a document that is central to the plaintiff’s claims may be considered on a motion to dismiss even if the plaintiff did not attach the document to the complaint. *See Oakwood Vill. LLC v. Albertsons, Inc.*, 2004 UT 101, ¶¶ 10-15, 104 P.3d 1226, 1230-32 (citing federal cases and discussing rule). In addition, although at the hearing the trial court queried counsel about the federal case, it implicitly excluded any outside materials in making its decision. *See id.* at 1231-32 (citing with approval *Lybrook v. Farmington Mun. Sch. Bd. of Educ.*, 232 F.3d 1334, 1342 (10th Cir. 2000) (finding that trial court implicitly excluded outside materials unless it could be established that the trial court relied on those materials to reach its decision, and stating “[T]he submission of documents outside the pleadings by itself is not a basis for conversion to summary judgment.”)). Neither the written order dismissing the Tuttles’ claims, R.194-96 (copy attached as Addendum A to this brief), nor the trial court’s oral ruling at the conclusion of the hearing, R.208 at 60-65, referred to any determinations made in the federal case. Rather, the trial court simply held that the state engineer owed no duty to the Tuttles to conduct the groundwater survey with reasonable care.

Although the Tuttles cite case law on the standard of review for motions to dismiss and motions for judgment on the pleadings, they fail to supply any analysis or record citations to support their claim of procedural error. As shown above, in the context of this case, it is far from obvious that the trial court improperly relied on any outside material in reaching its decision, or if it did, how the trial court's ultimate decision was based on that material. The Tuttles may not wait until their reply brief to clarify their argument, leaving defendants no opportunity to respond. Accordingly, this Court should reject the Tuttles' claim of procedural error and affirm the decision below.¹¹

3. The State Engineer Owed No Duty to the Tuttles to Detect their Illegal Irrigation

The trial court also correctly dismissed the Tuttles' negligence claims on the alternative ground that the defendants owed no duty to the Tuttles to use reasonable care in conducting the groundwater survey so as to correctly determine their water rights. As the Tuttles correctly assert, under certain circumstances not present in this case, the state engineer may seek a judicial

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